STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Marion County

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 05 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JIMMY TURNER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000335

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether it was error to allow a forensic interviewer offered by the State as an expert in “child abuse assessment” to bolster the alleged victim’s credibility by (1) testifying that she recommended no contact with appellant; and (2) she referred the child for therapy after conducting her forensic interview when this testimony could only convey the expert’s opinion that the child was telling the truth?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 10, 2012, a Marion County grand jury indicted appellant for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor under eleven years of age and lewd act. R. 272. On August 7, 2012, appellant was tried before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo, and a jury. Aug. 7, 2012, R. 1. Fitzlee H. McEachin represented the State. Aug. 7, 2012, R. 1. Marcus Woodson represented appellant. Aug. 7, 2012, R. 1. The result was a hung jury. Aug. 7, 2012, R. 2, l. 6 – 7, l. 17.

On February 5, 2013, appellant was tried before the Honorable William H. Seals and a jury. R. 8. The same attorneys represented the State and appellant. R. 8. The jury convicted appellant. R. 263, l. 14 – 264, l. 17. Judge Seals sentenced appellant to concurrent terms of life imprisonment on the CSC conviction and fifteen years' imprisonment for lewd act. R. 270, ll. 14 – 21. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

It was error to allow a forensic interviewer offered by the State as an expert in “child abuse assessment” to bolster the alleged victim’s credibility by (1) testifying that she recommended no contact with appellant; and (2) testifying she referred the child for therapy after conducting her forensic interview when this testimony could only convey the expert’s opinion that the child was telling the truth.

Relevant Facts

The child complainant in this case changed her story overnight. The complainant first reported the alleged sexual abuse to her teachers. R. 33, ll. 14 – 17. She told them her mother’s boyfriend had sexually abused her. R. 55, l. 25 – 56, l. 10. She was released into her mother’s custody and spent the night with her mother. R. 51, ll. 14 – 18. The next day, at her forensic interview, the complainant changed her story and identified appellant as her abuser. (State’s Exhibit 12). There was no physical evidence of abuse.

The Allegations at School

Annette Wardy (“Wardy”) worked as a behavioral specialist in classrooms with children who had emotional disturbances. R. 26, l. 19 – 27, l. 17. She worked alongside the classroom teacher. R. 27, ll. 15 – 24. Complainant (“Minor”) was a student in her class. R. 28, l. 22 – 29, l. 6. In December 2011, Minor had “a meltdown” in class. R. 31, l. 19 – 32, l. 13. Minor told Wardy that her mother’s boyfriend (“Vincent”) was “bothering her sexually.” R. 33, ll. 14 – 17. Wardy reported what Minor told her and the school reported the allegations to social services and law enforcement. R. 33, l. 18 – 34, l. 7.

Minor did not mention appellant at the school. R. 36, ll. 14 – 17. Minor told Wardy the abuse happened at her house, in her bed, while she was sleeping. R. 184, l. 18 – 185, l. 1. R. 186, ll. 12 – 16. Minor’s mother was home. R. 185, ll. 12 – 16. Minor repeated her story to Wardy, the teacher, and the school nurse and again did not mention appellant. R. 36, l. 22 – 37, l. 12.

Florence County Sheriff’s Deputy Vincent Hanna (“Hanna”) arrived at the school to investigate. R. 187, l. 19 – 188, l. 5. He spoke with Minor. R. 188, ll. 6 – 7. Minor told Deputy Hanna that the abuse happened at her mother’s house in Florence. R. 188, ll. 21 – 25.

Minor’s Mother Arrives at the School

After Minor reported her allegations against Vincent to her teachers, the school called Minor’s mother, Pearlene Commissiong (“Mother”), and she went to the school. R. 48, l. 15 – 50, l. 3. Mother first spoke with a uniformed law enforcement officer. R. 50, ll. 1 – 9. Mother was then taken into an office where she met with a teacher, a worker from DSS, and Minor. R. 50, ll. 10 – 18. The meeting lasted an hour and a half. R. 51, ll. 1 – 13. An appointment was set up for a forensic interview the next day at the Care House. R. 51, l. 17 – 25. Mother was allowed to take Minor home with her. R. 51, ll. 14 – 18.

Mother testified that she and Minor lived in Florence in the fall of 2011. R. 43, ll. 1 – 3. No one else lived with them. R. 44, ll. 3 – 6. Mother’s aunt was named Janie Mae Thompson (“Thompson”) and lived in Marion. R. 42, ll. 5 – 19. Mother worked the night shift at the hospital. R. 44, ll. 9 – 20. On the weekends, Mother worked 12 hour shifts from 7:00 AM to 7:00 PM. R. 44, ll. 16 – 25. When Mother worked, Minor stayed

with Thompson in Marion. R. 45, ll. 1 – 15. Mother’s uncle JW, her cousin Faye Thompson (“Faye”), and Faye’s boyfriend, appellant, lived in Thompson’s house in Marion. R. 46, l. 19 – 47, l. 4. Mother had dated Vincent for approximately five years. R. 52, ll. 1 – 5. Vincent would stay nights with Mother and Minor. R. 52, ll. 8 – 18.

Minor Changes Her Story

The solicitor concluded his direct examination of Mother with the following:

Q. All right. At any point in time, Pearlene, from when you got the phone call from the school up until today’s date, have you ever told [Minor] to tell anybody anything?

A. No, sir.

Q. With regard to this case?

A. No, sir.

Q. Have you ever told her to change any story?

A. No, sir.

Q. Nothing along those lines?

A. No, sir.

R. 54, ll. 2 – 11.

The reason for the solicitor’s odd questioning quickly became apparent on cross-examination. R. 55, l. 25 – 56, l. 10. Minor’s initial allegation at the school was against Vincent, not appellant. R. 55, l. 25 – 56, l. 10. The following occurred on cross-examination:

Q. Okay. And did you have any discussion with [the school resource officer] about it? And don’t say what he said, but did you all have a conversation or did he just tell you and you kept going?

A. No, I mean, we talked about it.

Q. All right. And the allegation was not against Jimmy Turner; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. And the allegation was against Vincent, I think, you said Brunson; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. And you didn't believe your daughter; is that correct?

A. I was very upset at the time with everything that was going on. I mean, kind of hit me all of a sudden, so I was very upset.

Q. Right. And so you said it couldn't have happened. He couldn't have done it; is that correct?

A. I said that to – I'm not understanding your question.

Q. You said at the school that Vincent couldn't have done it?

A. I said I was upset at the school. I'm not understanding what your – I'm not understanding your question.

Q. When you were told that your daughter was accusing your boyfriend of abuse, you said that could not have happened?

A. When I found out that [Minor] was touched, I was very upset. I said how – I was in disbelief that it happened period, that's what I was upset about.

...

Q. Okay. So is it your testimony today that when she made an allegation against Vincent that you believed her. I'm not sure if you answered my previous question. So did you believe –

A. I was upset about everything that was going on. I believe she was touched, yes. No child would come up and make that up, yes, I believe she was touched.

Q. But you don't believe it was by Vincent?

A. When the allegations came out, no I didn't believe it was Vincent. I was very upset though.

Q. Okay. And your daughter knew you were upset?

A. Yes, she was upset also, sir, at the time when I saw her.

R. 55, l. 21 – 57, l. 17 (emphasis added).

Mother admitted that when they left the school Mother was crying and emotional in the car. R. 58, ll. 12 – 15. **Mother denied that she discussed the situation with Minor in the car.** R. 59, ll. 7 – 10. Mother claimed she had been directed by the social worker not to question Minor and that she did not talk to Minor about her allegations at all. R. 59, ll. 11 – 21. However, on redirect, Mother contradicted herself and claimed that Minor told her in the car outside of the school that the alleged abuse occurred in Marion, not their home in Florence as she told the school officials. R. 62, l. 19 – 63, l. 20. She told the solicitor that Minor did not indicate in the car ride home that Vincent had abused her. R. 66, ll. 9 – 12.

Mother denied calling Vincent that night and telling him about the accusations. R. 59, ll. 22 – 25. Mother also categorically denied that Vincent had ever been alone with Minor, even though Mother often spent the night at Vincent's house and Minor often played with Vincent's daughter. R. 60, l. 14 – 61, l. 9.

Mother took Minor to the Care House for a forensic interview the next day. R. 53, ll. 2 – 10. Mother met with the forensic interviewer, Sally Williamson ("Williamson") at the Care House. R. 53, ll. 2 – 16. During the forensic interview, Minor claimed Appellant abused her and denied Vincent abused her. (State's Ex. 12)

Minor's Trial Testimony

Minor was eight years old at the time of trial. R. 92, ll. 17 – 18. Minor claimed that appellant performed vaginal and anal sex on her and forced her to perform oral sex

on him. R. 98, l. 5 – 100, l. 17. Minor admitted telling Wardy that Vincent did it and that the abuse happened at her house in Florence when she had a sleepover with some of her friends. R. 100, ll. 5 – 17. R. 103, ll. 13 – 23. Minor claimed that appellant threatened to kill her if she “didn’t say it was Vincent.” R. 100, l. 24 – 101, l. 9.

Minor and Mother’s testimony were contradictory on several points. Minor claimed she told Mother on the car ride home from the school that it was not Vincent. R. 101, ll. 12 – 19. Minor admitted that her mother was crying in the car and they talked about the allegations both in the car, and later about it that evening. R. 104, ll. 8 – 22. She claimed not to remember what her mother told her that evening. R. 104, ll. 23 – 24. Also contradicting her mother’s testimony, Minor denied that Vincent ever slept over at her house. R. 103, l. 24 – 104, l. 1.

At trial, Minor claimed the abuse happened at Thompson’s house when both Thompson and Faye were at home. R. 106, ll. 17 – 21. Minor claimed she would loudly ask for help, but nobody would come. R. 107, ll. 6 – 13. Minor did not ask Thompson or Faye for any help or tell them about the abuse after it happened. R. 107, ll. 14 – 24.

Minor’s Forensic Interview

During the forensic interview, when discussing appellant and the alleged abuse, Minor is almost playful and frequently changes positions in her chair. (State’s Exhibit 12). She is rarely serious, somber, or emotional when she describes oral, anal, and vaginal sex. (State’s Exhibit 12). When Williamson asked Minor if anything ever came out of appellant’s penis, Minor told her “green stuff.” (State’s Exhibit 12). Near the end of the forensic interview, Williamson asked Minor whether she had ever told anyone that someone else abused her. (State’s Exhibit 12). Minor hesitated. (State’s Exhibit 12).

Williamson told Minor that it was okay if she had said that someone else did it because sometimes kids get confused. (State's Exhibit 12). Minor then denied ever saying anyone else ever touched her private parts. (State's Exhibit 12).

At this point, Minor's demeanor changed from being playful to sitting up straight in her chair with her head looking at her feet. (State's Exhibit 12). Williamson asked Minor if she was telling the truth. (State's Exhibit 12). Williamson then told Minor that she had spoken with Minor's mother who had said something about Vincent. (State's Exhibit 12). Williamson then asked if Minor had ever told anyone that Vincent had touched her private parts. (State's Exhibit 12). Minor replied that she was nervous and that was why she said that. (State's Exhibit 12). Williamson asked if Vincent had ever touched her private parts. (State's Exhibit 12). Minor said only if she hugged him. (State's Exhibit 12). Minor sat very still and replied "no" to questions about touching or being touched by Vincent. (State's Exhibit 12). Williamson then said she wanted to make sure that she understood—that Minor had first said Vincent, but was really nervous when she first accused Vincent. (State's Exhibit 12). Williamson then asked who she really meant when she accused Vincent and Minor named appellant. (State's Exhibit 12). Williamson then exited the room. (State's Exhibit 12).

The Defense Case – Faye and Thompson

Faye testified that Thompson's house was "fairly small." R. 197, ll. 16 – 17. The house had three bedrooms and a dining area. R. 195, ll. 4 – 5. Faye testified that she could not recall any time when appellant looked after Minor by himself. R. 195, ll. 18 – 20. Appellant worked at McCall Farms and also had a paper route. R. 195, l. 21 – 196, l. 10. Thompson took care of Minor during the day. R. 196, ll. 18 – 19. Faye testified she

never sent Minor into her room to get anything for her. R. 197, ll. 1 – 3. Faye never recalled Minor being in a closed room with appellant. R. 198, ll. 17 – 19. She never heard Minor scream for help. R. 197, ll. 4 – 6. Minor never acted fearful around appellant. R. 197, ll. 7 – 8. She never told Faye that anything was wrong. R. 197, ll. 9 – 11.

Thompson testified that Mother and Minor lived with her in Marion when they first moved to South Carolina from New York. R. 210, ll. 17 – 19. When Mother got a job in Florence, she would leave Minor with Thompson for “weeks after weeks.” R. 210, l. 20 – 211, l. 1. Minor stayed with Thompson “so much until I would beg her mother to come get her and she wouldn’t.” R. 211, ll. 9 – 15. Thompson testified that “welfare had to get into it and make her come get her and take her home,” but the solicitor’s objection to this statement was sustained and it was stricken.¹ R. 211, ll. 9 – 20.

Thompson testified that Minor was never alone with appellant. R. 212, ll. 5 – 7. Thompson contradicted Mother’s testimony about Vincent. R. 216, ll. 16 – 217, l. 14. She testified that there were times that Minor was alone with Vincent. R. 216, l. 16 – 217, l. 14. Thompson never noticed Minor behave unusually towards appellant. R. 217, ll. 15 – 17. She never heard Minor scream for help. R. 217, ll. 18 – 20. She testified that because her house was so small, if Minor had screamed she would have heard it and gone running to see about it. R. 217, l. 21 – 218, l. 4.

¹ The trial judge did not have the benefit of argument that this testimony would be relevant to show bias of Mother pursuant to Rule 608(c), SCRE.

The Forensic Interviewer's Testimony

Before the forensic interviewer, Williamson, took the stand, the court heard lengthy argument on the boundaries of her testimony. R. 111, l. 4 – 122, l. 12. Appellant argued Williamson should not be allowed to vouch for Minor's credibility or discuss whether the child had been coached. R. 111, ll. 6 – 112, l. 21. Appellant cited State v. Hill, 394 S.C. 280, 715 S.E.2d 368 (2011); State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 732 S.E.2d 861 (2012); and State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). R. 111, l. 6 – 112, l. 17. He noted to the trial judge that in the previous trial, the forensic interviewer gave an opinion that Minor's behavior indicated she was telling the truth. R. 113, ll. 8 – 14. Kromah was decided between the first trial that resulted in a hung jury and the instant trial.

The State replied that Kromah did not bar Williams's testimony because it did not plan on admitting Williamson as an expert in forensic interviewing, but instead in "the field of child sexual abuse assessment and treatment." R. 114, l. 4 – 115, l. 24. The solicitor admitted he could not ask Williamson whether the child was telling the truth, but told the court there were "other things" that were "certainly within the purview of her expertise" and that her testimony should be allowed. R. 116, ll. 2 – 18.

The solicitor said that he did plan to ask Williamson about coaching and appellant objected. R. 117, ll. 12 – 16. The solicitor argued it was not improper under Kromah because the case only dealt with forensic interviewers and "not somebody who was qualified as an expert in child sexual abuse assessment and treatment."

R. 117, ll. 18 – 23. Defense counsel told the trial judge that Williamson "holds herself out as a forensic interviewer" and that the State's strategy was, after Kromah, to have her say "I'm really not a forensic interviewer, I'm a child sexual expert." R. 117, l.

24 – 118, l. 4. The solicitor replied that forensic interviewing was “only a small portion” of what Williamson does. R. 118, ll. 5 – 15. Trial counsel argued that Williamson should not be allowed to testify regarding coaching and that her purpose should only be to admit the tape of the forensic interview. R. 120, l. 14 – 121, l. 2. The trial judge overruled appellant’s objections. R. 121, ll. 7 – 11.

After asking Williamson her name, solicitor’s next question asked her current occupation. R. 123, ll. 15 – 18. Williamson replied, “I’m a forensic interviewer.” R. 123, l. 19. After prompting from the solicitor, she said she was “also a therapist as well.” R. 123, ll. 23 – 25. The solicitor offered Williamson “as an expert in child sexual abuse assessment and treatment.” R. 127, ll. 10 – 12. During voir dire, appellant asked Williamson whether the work she did in this case was as a forensic interviewer or as a counselor. R. 128, ll. 7 – 9. Williamson said, “I conducted a forensic interview with this child.” R. 128, l. 10. Defense counsel then objected to having her qualified as an expert in child abuse assessment, but the trial judge overruled the objection and qualified the expert. R. 130, ll. 14 – 23.

Williamson then testified about the concept of delayed disclosure and stated that, “most sexual abuse is not disclosed at all.” R. 131, ll. 2 – 22. Williamson was asked about the concept of “partial disclosure,” which she explained as when a child discloses abuse “but says it happened to a friend.” R. 132, ll. 20 – 25. She described “partial disclosure” as the child trying to say something happened either in a dream or that a person tried to do something to them but did not succeed, or might say something happened one time that actually happened ten times. R. 132, l. 20 – 133, l. 12.

The solicitor then asked Williamson to define “active disclosure.” R. 133, ll. 13 – 20. Williamson defined an “active disclosure” as one in which “there has been no part of inconsistency or no inconsistent piece in the disclosure. The child has been clear and concise in their disclosure and has not strayed from the original disclosure in any way.” R. 133, ll. 13 – 20. The solicitor asked if partial disclosures and active disclosures were common and Williamson said they were. R. 133, ll. 21 – 23. Appellant objected to this question and his objection was overruled. R. 133, l. 24 – 134, l. 5.

The tape of the forensic interview was played during Williamson’s testimony. R. 142, ll. 13 – 16. The following questioning took place soon after the jury viewed the video was played for the jury:

Q. Okay. Now, Sally, as an expert in the field of child abuse assessment and treatment, **do you look to see if a victim has been coached or influenced by any sort of third-party?**

MR. WOODSON: And, Your Honor, I renew my objection at this time.

THE COURT: I’m going to overrule those objections.

BY MR. MCEACHIN:

Q. Do you look to see if a victim has been coached or has some sort of influence by a third party before speaking to you?

A. We do throughout interview.

Q. What do you look for?

A. We look for a few different pieces. We look for what we call congruents in child’s behavior, which is basically does their behavior in some way go along with pieces of information that [they’re] disclosing through the interview. And we also look for any inconsistencies that might arise through the interview in the victim’s disclosure of what happened.

Q. And when you say any inconsistencies we saw the video is that why you'll sometimes revert back and ask a same question again a little bit further in interview to see if you get a consistent answer?

A. Yes, that's correct and sometimes why I rephrase the question as well.

Q. All right. If you could explain to the jury about the concept of peripheral facts. I think you talked about congruency but could you go a step further there?

A. Peripheral facts are other pieces of information that we look to obtain during a victim's statement such as do you remember where you were, do you remember what the room look like, what you were wearing, what did – were there descriptors like the bed spread for example, what did the bed spread look like, what time of day was it. So basically helps us to build a picture of what occurred and when where it occurred.

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