ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUL 29 2015

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY
William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2013-000335

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

JIMMY TURNER,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

EDGAR L. CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

180 N. Irby Street, MSQ-Q
Room 1101
Florence, South Carolina 29501
(843) 665-3091

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY

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

Next, Captain Cindy Barr of the Marion Police Department took the stand. She conducted the police investigation following the victim's interview at the Care House. Captain Barr secured and executed a search warrant for the Thompson house in Marion, where she took photographs and collected various pieces of evidence including sheets, blankets, hair grease, petroleum jelly, and deep penetrating lotion. She also secured an arrest warrant for Appellant and placed him under arrest. (R.p.69, line 1-p.83, line 20).

The State then called the victim, who was eight years old at the time of trial, to the stand. She gave the names and relationships of her immediate family members and their friends including her cousin Faye, and Faye's boyfriend "Bear." She said Bear's real name was Jimmy and identified him sitting in the courtroom. The victim testified that when she went to Faye's house, Bear "bothered" her by touching her "in her private parts." She said he made her touch his private parts and he "put my private part with his private part." The victim said Bear made her put his private part in her mouth. She also testified Bear put his private part in between her legs and in her bottom and he used grease. The victim admitted she first told Ms. Wardy that Vincent did it, but testified this was because she was scared of Bear. She said Bear told her if she didn't say it was Vincent, he would kill her. The victim said she later told both her mother and Ms. Sally [Williamson] from the Care House that it was Bear who bothered her because Bear is the one who actually hurt her. (R.p.91, line 5-p.102, line 10).

The following day, before the State called Ms. Williamson as its next witness, Appellant raised an objection to her testimony. Counsel argued he had dealt with Ms. Williamson as a witness before and based on that experience would object to her offering any testimony that it was "normal" or "not unusual" for a child to change her story about sexual abuse. He noted that the changed story and the issue of "coaching" were central to the case and argued any similar testimony to what he heard before which might suggest the victim had not been coached would amount to Ms. Williamson, a forensic interviewer, impermissibly "vouching for the credibility of the child." Appellant objected to the testimony under several recent cases including State v. Kromah.¹ The solicitor responded that he would not be qualifying Ms. Williamson as an expert in

¹ 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013).

forensic interviewing and noted that unlike in Kromah, the victim here took the stand and testified about the abuse. He also argued that testimony regarding coaching from an expert in the field of child sexual abuse and treatment was permissible pursuant to State v. Schumpert,² State v. Hill,³ and State v. Douglas.⁴ (Tr.p.133, line 22-p.142, line 20).

Relying primarily on language from Hill, the trial court decided Ms. Williamson would be permitted to testify about the types of things she looks for to determine whether a child has been coached, but would not be permitted to give an opinion on whether the victim was being truthful or that she had not, in fact, been coached. The court noted the State could call Ms. Williamson as a witness but would have to abide by the ruling limiting her testimony as described. (R.p.119, line 21-p.122, line 14).

The State then called Ms. Williamson to the stand. After covering her qualifications, the State offered her as expert in “child sexual abuse assessment and treatment.” Appellant objected and argued he would only agree to her being qualified as a forensic interviewer. The trial judge found Ms. Williamson qualified as offered by the State and admitted her as an expert. (R.p.123, line 5-p.130, line 25). Following the ruling, the State proceeded to question Ms. Williamson about common behavioral characteristics associated with child sexual abuse. She explained “active disclosure” and “delayed disclosure” and opined, over Appellant’s objection, that these were fairly common in her line of work. (R.p.131, line 1-p.134, line 6).

Ms. Williamson then testified about her forensic interview of the victim on behalf of the Care House. She said the victim disclosed she had been sexually abused at a cousin’s home during the beginning of the school year in 2011. Ms. Williamson said she

² 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993).

³ 394 S.C. 280, 715 S.E.2d 368 (Ct. App. 2011).

⁴ 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009).

made a video recording of the interview and after hearing arguments about its admissibility outside the presence of the jury, the trial court admitted that video into evidence and it was played for the jury. (R.p.134, line 7-p.142, line 16). Ms. Williamson resumed her testimony and described two anatomical drawings that were used during the victim's interview. Those drawings were admitted into evidence. Next, she was asked if, as an expert in child abuse assessment and treatment, she looks for things during interviews to see if a victim has been coached or influenced by any sort of third party. Appellant renewed his objection and it was overruled by the trial court. Ms. Williamson proceeded to describe the things she considers when assessing whether a child has been coached. (R.p.142, line 17-p.145, line 20).

The following exchange then took place:

Q: As a result [of] [the victim's] disclosure that she had been assaulted, what if any recommendations, did you make?

A: I made a recommendation of therapy as I always do when a child discloses any form of abuse and typically that's trauma focused therapy of some sort, it's evidence based and also no contact with the alleged perpetrator.

MR. WOODSON: Your Honor, I would object to that last question same grounds.

THE COURT: Overruled.

Q: So in essence you recommend therapy for her?

A: I did, yes.

(R.p.145, line 21-p.146, line 7) (emphasis added). The jury was then excused and Appellant moved for a mistrial. He argued the last question about the recommendation bolsters the child's credibility because by making recommendations Ms. Williamson was "basically telling the jury I found something, then this child's credible." The solicitor

responded that Ms. Williamson never gave an opinion that she believed the victim and argued her testimony was not bolstering. After hearing arguments, the trial court found Ms. Williamson “didn’t state any opinions at all,” overruled the objection, and denied the motion for a mistrial. (R.p.146, line 10-p.148, line 25). Following brief cross-examination, the State rested. Appellant renewed his motion for a mistrial and also moved for a directed verdict. Those motions were denied. (R.p.149, line 4-p.152, line 17).

Appellant then presented his defense. He first called the victim’s pediatrician, Dr. Patrice Minter, to the stand. She conducted a physical examination of the victim sometime after the alleged sexual abuse. Dr. Minter testified both the victim’s anus and her vagina were within normal limits and she did not notice any injuries to the victim; however, on cross-examination she agreed this did not indicate one way or another that trauma had occurred. She also agreed that use of any kind of lubricant would make trauma less likely. (R.p.169, line 7-p.179, line 6). Appellant then re-called Ms. Wardy and called Florence County Sheriff’s Deputy Vincent Hanna to the stand, both in an attempt to elicit testimony about the victim’s initial claim that the abuse was committed Vincent; however, most of the testimony in this regard was excluded as hearsay. (R.p.179, line 10-p.193, line 14). Finally, Appellant called Faye Thompson and Janie Mae Thompson in an attempt to cast doubt on the victim’s testimony that the abuse took place at their house in Marion. (R.p.193, line 18-p.223, line 23). After resting, Appellant renewed his previous motions and those motions were denied. (R.p.224, lines 4-21).

The parties proceeded with closing arguments and the trial court then charged the jury on the law. The trial judge charged the State’s burden of proof, the presumption of

innocence, reasonable doubt, direct and circumstantial evidence, the roles of the judge and the jury, the jury's duty to determine the facts and the credibility of witnesses, expert witnesses, and the elements of the offenses. (R.p.230, line 13-p.258, line 8). After deliberating for approximately two hours, which included re-watching the video of the victim's interview, the jury convicted Appellant as indicted. (R.p.259, line 9-p.264, line 12). He was sentenced to life imprisonment for first-degree CSC with a minor and fifteen (15) years' concurrent imprisonment for lewd act. (R.p.271-274; R.p.270, lines 9-21).

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly allowed a witness qualified as an expert in child abuse assessment to testify that, consistent with her standard practice “when a child discloses any form of abuse,” she recommended therapy for the child and recommended that the child have no contact with the “alleged perpetrator.”

Appellant argues the trial court erred in allowing a forensic interviewer qualified as an expert in “child abuse assessment” to testify that, as a result of the victim’s disclosure of sexual abuse, she recommended no contact with Appellant and referred the child for therapy. He contends “this testimony could only convey the expert’s opinion that the child was telling the truth” and therefore improperly bolstered the victim’s credibility. Appellant argues our Supreme Court’s recent decision in State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015), “compels reversal” of his conviction. (Brief of Appellant). The State disagrees and submits Appellant’s argument is entirely without merit. The trial court exercised appropriate discretion in allowing Ms. Williamson’s testimony regarding her recommendation for therapy and no contact with Appellant. Her testimony did not constitute improper bolstering of the victim’s credibility and was not unfairly prejudicial because it simply described Ms. Williamson’s standard recommendations in regard to any allegations of abuse. Additionally, because the testimony related to her standard practice, any conceivable error in admitting testimony about applying those that practice to the victim in this case was harmless. Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the presiding judge and the appellate court will not interfere unless it clearly appears that the rights of the complaining party were abused or prejudiced in some way. State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 262, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011) (quoting State v. Bridges, 278 S.C. 447, 448, 298 S.E.2d 212, 212 (1982)). Thus, the admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. Kromah, 401 S.C. at 349, 737 S.E.2d at 494-95; State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 87, 736 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2012); State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. Kromah, 401 S.C. at 349, 737 S.E.2d at 495; Douglas, 369 S.C. at 429-30, 632 S.E.2d at 848; Lee v. Suess, 318 S.C. 283, 457 S.E.2d 344 (1995).

Law / Analysis

While experts may give opinions, they are not permitted to offer an opinion as to the credibility of others. Chavis, 412 S.C. at ____, 771 S.E.2d at 340. Specifically, it is improper for a witness to testify as to his or her opinion about the credibility of a child victim in a sexual abuse matter. Id. (quoting Kromah, 401 S.C. at 358-59, 737 S.E.2d at 500). In Chavis, our Supreme Court considered testimony from Mrs. Robin Griggs, a forensic interviewer who had interviewed the Victim and was qualified at trial as an

expert in child abuse assessment. The Court held: “Mrs. Griggs’s recommendation that Appellant not be around Victim for any reason, can only be interpreted as Mrs. Grigg’s believing Victim’s claim that Appellant sexually abused her. This type of testimony is improper.” Id. Although the Court ultimately found the error in admitting the testimony was harmless in light of the other evidence of guilt, it did so only after concluding: “Mrs. Griggs’s recommendation that Appellant not be around Victim for any reason improperly bolstered Victim’s credibility.” Chavis, 412 S.C. at ___, 771 S.E.2d at 341.

Appellant argues the conclusion in Chavis, “compels reversal” of his conviction; yet, the testimony elicited from Ms. Williamson is markedly different from what was found objectionable in Chavis. Unlike the starkly specific testimony from Mrs. Griggs that she recommended “Appellant not be around Victim for any reason,” Ms. Williamson qualified both of her recommendations by way of a clear explanation that she always recommends therapy and “no contact” when there has been a disclosure of sexual abuse. Rather than suggesting Ms. Williamson believed the victim’s claim of sexual abuse, this testimony implies exactly the opposite, that Ms. Williamson had no opinion whatsoever about the victim’s credibility. Ms. Williamson did not testify she would have declined recommending therapy and no contact if she did not believe the victim. Instead, she said she recommends therapy and no contact irrespective of any belief in, or assessment of, the child’s credibility. In addition, Ms. Williamson referred to Appellant as the “alleged perpetrator”, which appropriately recognizes the child’s disclosure as precisely what it was prior to Appellant’s conviction—a mere allegation. Ms. Williamson’s use of the word “alleged” demonstrates an absence of any opinion as to the credibility of the victim. The State submits the trial court exercised appropriate discretion in allowing Ms.

Williamson's testimony and that it was not unfairly prejudicial because it simply did not constitute improper bolstering of the victim's credibility. Rather than compelling reversal, Chavis seems to compel affirmance.

Appellant's case is likewise distinguishable from Kromah and other cases which involved testimony of a non-scientific "forensic interviewer" who offered either: (1) a "direct opinion as to the child's veracity," (2) a statement that "indirectly vouches for the child's believability," (3) a statement "to indicate to a jury that the interviewer believes the child's allegations in the current manner," or (4) "an opinion that the child's behavior indicated the child was telling the truth." Kromah, 401 S.C. at 360, 737 S.E.2d at 500. As explained above, Ms. Williamson did not opine on the victim's veracity, either directly or indirectly. Furthermore, she was not admitted as an expert "forensic interviewer." Accordingly, Kromah and other cases where expert testimony was found to be unfairly prejudicial to the defendant also fail to support reversal. See State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 94 (2011) (finding the admission of the forensic interviewer's written report into testimony to be error because the reports stated that each child "provided a compelling disclosure of abuse by appellant."); State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 465, 725 S.E.2d 139, 142 (Ct. App. 2012) (finding the forensic interviewer's "opinion as to whether she thinks something happened [was] nothing other than her inadmissible opinion as to whether the victim was telling the truth").

Further, given the victim's clear trial testimony, the video tape from the forensic interview, the corroborating testimony regarding her disclosure of the time and place of the sexual abuse, and the trial court's charge to the jury to give no greater weight to the testimony of the expert (R.p.252, line 17-p.253, line 9), any error from admission of Ms.

Williamson's testimony was harmless. See State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial); Douglas, 380 S.C. at 503, 671 S.E.2d at 609 (finding Douglas suffered no prejudice from a witness' unnecessary qualification as an expert because "[t]he fact that [the witness] was qualified as an expert did not require the jury to accord her testimony any greater weight than that given to any other witness"); see also Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 590, n.1, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 n.1 (1999) ("A jury is presumed to follow instructions."). For all of these reasons, Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

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